### SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 21 2014

#### IN THE

#### SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

25(b)

#### MAYRA ANTONIA ALVARADO and DYLAN HARBORD-MOORE,

Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners,

VS.

#### STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Defendants and Respondents,

#### PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From a decision of the California Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G047922

[Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 30-2008 0011611 The Honorable Robert J. Moss, Judge]

Michael Maroko, Esq. (CASB# 62013)
mmaroko@amglaw.com
John S. West, Esq. (CASB# 102034)
jwest@amglaw.com
ALLRED, MAROKO & GOLDBERG
6300 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1500

I.	INTRODUCTION		
II.	FACT	TUAL BACKGROUND	
	(A)	The Facts as Summarized in the Opinion	
	(B)	The Record That the Petitioners Placed in the Petition for Review, Before the Court of Appeal, and Before the Trial Court, Regarding the Chp's Supervisory Powers over FSP Tow Truck Drivers	
	(C)	Petitioners' Claims Against the CHP	
III.	STAT ANY CLAI OR A	OPINION RECOGNIZES THE SILENCE OF THE FSP TUTES AND LEGISLATIVE HISTORY REGARDING INTENT TO ALTER THE PROVISIONS OF THE TORT MS ACT, THE SPECIAL EMPLOYMENT DOCTRINE, NY OTHER TORT LIABILITY RULES PERTAINING TO CHP'S ROLE IN THE FSP PROGRAM	
IV.	HISTO INTE OF Al LANC	AUSE THE FSP STATUTES AND LEGISLATIVE ORY OF THE FSP ARE SILENT REGARDING ANY NT TO ALTER TORT LIABILITY RULES, THE COURT PPEAL SHOULD HAVE INTERPRETED THE GUAGE OF THE FSP IN LIGHT OF THE LAW IN TENCE WHEN THE FSP WAS ENACTED	
V.	HISTO APPE THAT EXPR	N THE SILENCE OF THE FSP AND ITS LEGISLATIVE ORY ON ISSUES OF TORT LIABILITY, THE COURT OF AL SHOULD HAVE FOLLOWED THE PRINCIPLE UNLESS SOME INTENT TO ALTER THE LAW IS ESSLY PROVIDED, STATUTES SHOULD NOT BE RPRETED TO ALTER THE COMMON LAW	

VI.		HIS MATTER, THE COURT OF APPEAL ABROGATED		
		TING LAW, AND IMPLIED AN INTENT TO ALTER		
		GSTANDING PRINCIPLES OF TORT LIABILITY,		
	WITI	HOUT ANY EXPRESSION OF LEGISLATIVE INTENT		
	TOD	OO SO21		
	(A)	Long Before the FSP Was Enacted, the Special		
		Employment Doctrine Was Well Established in this State . 22		
	(B)	Long Before the FSP Was Enacted, the California Tort		
		Claims Act Had Recognized the Special Employer		
		Liability of Public Entities for Decades Before the		
		Enactment of the FSP		
	(C)	Long Before the FSP Was Enacted, the Special		
		Employment Doctrine Had Been Applied to Governmental		
		Entities		
VII.	INTERPRETED ACCORDING TO THEIR PLAIN MEANING,			
	THE FSP STATUTES REVEAL NO LEGISLATIVE INTENT			
	TO A	BROGATE ANY ASPECT, STATUTORY OR JUDICIAL,		
		ORT LIABILITY IN THE CONTEXT OF THE FSP 29		
VIII.	SUPREME COURT REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE IN THIS			
	CASE			

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

#### **CASES**

Air Couriers Intern. v. Employment Development Dept. (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 923 [59 Cal.Rptr.3d 37]
Arnold v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 580 [135 Cal.Rptr.3d 213]
Azusa Land Partners v. Department of Indus. Relations (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 1 [120 Cal.Rptr.3d 27]
Bowman v. Wyatt (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 286 [111 Cal.Rptr.3d 787]
Bradley v. California Dept. of Corrections and Rehabilitation (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 1612 [71 Cal.Rptr.3d 222]
Brassinga v. City of Mountain View (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 195 [77 Cal.Rptr.2d 660]
California Compensation Ins. Co. v. Industrial Accident Commission (1948) 86 Cal.App.2d 861 [195 P.2d 880]
County of Los Angeles v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1981) 30 Cal.3d 391 [179 Cal.Rptr. 214, 637 P.2d 681]
Dillingham-Ray Wilson v. City of Los Angeles (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1396 [106 Cal.Rptr.3d 691]
Drennan v. Security Pacific National Bank (1981) 28 Cal.3d 764 [170 Cal.Rptr. 904]
Empire Star Mines Co. v. California Employment Commission (1946) 28 Cal.2d 33 [168 P.2d 686]
Estrada v. FedEx Ground Package System, Inc. (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 1 [64 Cal.Rptr.3d 327]

Farmers Insurance Group v. County of Santa Clara (1995) 11 Cal.4th 992 [47 Cal.Rptr.2d 478]
Freeman & Mills, Inc. v. Belcher Oil Co. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 85 [44 Cal.Rptr.2d 420]
General Electric Capital Auto Financial Services, Inc. v. Appellate Division (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 136 [105 Cal.Rptr.2d 552]
Holland v. Assessment Appeals Bd. No. 1 (2014) 58 Cal.4th 482 [167 Cal.Rptr.3d 74, 316 P.3d 1188]
In-Home Supportive Services v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1984) 152 Cal.App.3d 720 [199 Cal.Rptr. 697] 26, 28, 29
Isenberg v. California Employment Stabilization Commission (1947) 30 Cal.2d 34 [180 P.2d 11]
Kern County Water Agency v. Watershed Enforcers (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 969 [110 Cal.Rptr.3d 876]
Kowalski v. Shell Oil Co. (1979) 23 Cal. 3d 168 [588 P.2d 811] 6, 8, 22, 23, 27
Kurtin v. Elieff (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 455 [155 Cal.Rptr.3d 573]
Metropolitan Water Dist. of Southern California v. Superior Court (2004) 32 Cal.4th 491 [9 Cal.Rptr.3d 857, 84 P.3d 966]
People v. McGuire (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 687 [18 Cal.Rptr.2d 12]
People v. Sims (1982) 32 Cal.3d 468 [186 Cal.Rptr. 77]
Pineda v. Bank of America, N.A. (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1389 [117 Cal.Rptr.3d 377]

Societa Per Azioni De Navigazione Italia v. City of Los Angeles (1982) 31 Cal.3d 446 [183 Cal.Rptr. 51, 645 P.2d 102]
Societa Per Azioni De Navigazione Italia v. City of Los Angeles, supra; In- Home Supportive Services v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1984) 152 Cal.App.3d 720 [199 Cal.Rptr. 697]
State ex rel. Department of California Highway Patrol v. Superior Court (2013) 163 Cal.Rptr.3d 333
Strait v. Hale Constr. Co. (1972) 26 Cal. App. 3d 941 [103 Cal. Rptr. 487] 6, 22
Tieberg v. Unemployment Ins. App. Bd. (1970) 2 Cal.3d 943 [88 Cal.Rptr. 175]
STATUTES
California Code of Civil Procedure § 166.1
California Government Code § 800
California Government Code § 810.2
California Government Code § 815.2
California Rules of Court, Rule 8.520(b)(2)(B)
California Streets and Highways Code § 2560
California Streets and Highways Code § 2560.5
California Streets and Highway Code § 2561(b)
California Streets & Highways Code § 2561(c)
California Vehicle Code § 2401
California Vehicle Code § 2424

California Vehicle Code § 2430.1
California Vehicle Code § 2430.1(b)
California Vehicle Code § 2430.3
California Vehicle Code § 2430.5
California Vehicle Code § 2431
California Vehicle Code § 2432.1
California Vehicle Code § 2435
California Vehicle Code § 2436(d)
California Vehicle Code § 2436.5
California Vehicle Code § 2436.7
OTHER
Restatement of Agency § 220
Welfare & Institutions Code § 12300

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES IN THE PETITION AND ANSWER [RULE 8.520(b)(2)(B), CALIFORNIA RULES OF COURT]

The Supreme Court's Order granting review did not specify issues to be briefed, and the Answer to the Petition did not contain any Statement of Issues on behalf of the Respondent. Petitioners therefore quote the Statement of Issues in the Petition for Review, as required by Rule 8.520(b)(2)(B), as follows.

1. Before the State's Freeway Service Program ("FSP") was enacted, the California Tort Claims Act definition of "employee" rendered a public entity liable as the special employer of a negligent actor who, because of the public entity's power of supervision, is subject to dual employment. Published decisions had also applied the special employment doctrine to public entities prior to the enactment of the FSP. There is no FSP legislative history or other authority stating that the special employment doctrine is inapplicable to the California Highway Patrol ("CHP") in the context of the CHP's supervision of FSP tow truck drivers. Did the Court of Appeal err in holding that the presence of the term "employer" in FSP statutes evidences Legislative intent that the special employment doctrine not apply to CHP in the FSP context?

111

2. The FSP statutes contain an administrative definition of the term "employer." Those statutes also contain, but do not define, the term "employee." When a statute does not define a particular term, the common law definition of that term controls. The common law definition of "employee" includes a special employee. There is no FSP Legislative history or other authority expressing an intent to vary the common law definition of an"employee" in the FSP. Did the Court of Appeal err in holding that the presence of the term "employer" in FSP statutes evidences a Legislative intent that the CHP not be subject to tort liability for the negligence of its special employee in the FSP context?

#### I. INTRODUCTION

While the Petitioners certainly contend that the Court of Appeal reached an erroneous conclusion by an erroneous process, and that those errors resulted in a loss of legitimate claims, this case is about far more than the Petitioners or their claims. The errors in the Opinion relate to matters of great public importance. And, if the Opinion is allowed to stand, it will serve as precedent for disregarding longstanding legal principles of tort liability and of statutory interpretation in settings beyond the bounds of this dispute. In a very real way, the Opinion may result in unpredictable and inconsistent interpretations of the law in settings of public importance.

By way of background, California Streets & Highways Code § 2561(c) defines the "Freeway Service Patrol" as "a program managed by the Department of the California Highway Patrol, the department, and a regional or local entity which provides emergency roadside assistance on a freeway in an urban area." The FSP was established to enable the Highway Patrol ("CHP") to fulfill statutory patrol responsibilities codified in statutes such as California Vehicle Code § 2401 (providing that the CHP "shall make adequate provision for patrol of the highways at all times of the day and night") and Vehicle Code § 2435 (providing that the CHP "is responsible for rapid removal of impediments to traffic on highways within the state"). Streets and Highways Code § 2560.5 contains the Legislature's recognition that in order for the CHP to perform its responsibilities for removal of traffic impediments, the CHP enters into FSP programs which are "a permanent part of the State's overall program to keep California's highway safe and free of traffic congestion."

In AB1248, the bill that gave rise to the FSP, the Legislature illustrated the statewide importance of the program. That bill declares that "(a) California's freeway service patrols are a critical element in the state's efforts to keep our freeways safe and operating efficiently[;] (b) Freeway service patrols provide an effective freeway congestion relief program on

the state highway system."...(e) Since the state first implemented freeway service patrol programs on a demonstration basis in 1992, some 4.5 million motorists statewide have received assistance..."

This Petition involves centers around the issue of whether existing case law and governmental tort liability statutes impose liability upon the CHP as the special employer of a negligent tow truck driver who is (1) under the control of the CHP and (2) engaged in FSP activities when his negligence causes an injury. In this case, Petitioner Mayra Alvarado was driving on the Interstate 5 freeway, with her minor son Dylan Harbord-Moore as a passenger, when a negligently driven tow truck smashed into the rear of Ms. Alvarado's car while engaged in FSP patrol activities. As a result of the impact, Ms. Alvarado sustained disabling brain injuries, and her son was also injured.<sup>1</sup>

The record contained undisputed evidence establishing the CHP's supervisory powers over the negligent FSP tow truck driver. That record

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the underlying action, the CHP moved for summary judgment on the Petitioners claim that the supervisory powers vested in the CHP rendered the CHP liable as Guzman's special employer for their injuries. The Orange County Superior Court denied that motion and then issued a certification of this matter under California Code of Civil Procedure § 166.1 ("...a judge may indicate in any interlocutory order a belief that there is a controlling question of law as to which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion ...").

included a chain of written contracts giving the CHP supervisory power over the day activities of FSP tow truck drivers at the time of the accident. The record also included the testimony of the negligent FSP tow truck driver regarding the CHP's control over his day to day activities at the time of the accident. Even the CHP's own designated "person most knowledgeable" regarding the FSP program testified that the negligent tow truck driver was under the supervision of the CHP at the time of the accident, and his testimony was in the record as well.

Long before the FSP was enacted, our courts had recognized the special employment doctrine. Under that doctrine, when an employer sends an employee to perform work for another person, and both have the right to exercise some control over the employee, the employee is deemed to have both a "general" (original) employer and a "special" employer. The doctrine renders both of them liable for the employee's negligence.<sup>2</sup>

Long before the FSP was enacted, the courts of this state had applied the special employment doctrine to hold public entities liable for the negligence of persons under their control.<sup>3</sup> And, long before the FSP was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Kowalski v. Shell Oil Co.</u> (1979) 23 Cal. 3d 168, 174-75 [588 P.2d 811, 814-15]; <u>Strait v. Hale Constr. Co.</u> (1972) 26 Cal. App. 3d 941, 946 [103 Cal. Rptr. 487, 491]. See discussion, infra, at Section VI(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, <u>infra</u>, at Section VI (C).

enacted, California's governmental tort liability statutes permitted public entities to be held liable as special employers.<sup>4</sup> There is nothing in the FSP, the Legislative history of the FSP, or case law which even remotely suggests either Legislative intent that the CHP should not be liable as a special employer or Legislative intent that the general principles of the Tort Claims Act (California Government Code § 800 et seq.) should not be applied to the CHP in the FSP context.<sup>5</sup>

Nevertheless, in a case of first impression the Court of Appeal in this matter held that the CHP cannot be held liable as a special employer for the negligence of a tow truck driver who was under CHP control and engaged in official FSP activities for the CHP at the time of his negligence. State ex rel. Department of California Highway Patrol v. Superior Court (2013) 163 Cal.Rptr.3d 333, ("the Opinion"). The Opinion observed that various FSP statutes in the Vehicle Code refer to an "employer" and, elsewhere, to the CHP. Based on that fact alone, the Opinion concluded that there is a "legislative intent to distinguish between employers of tow truck drivers and the CHP" and, therefore, that "the CHP cannot as a matter of law be the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See the discussion, infra at Section VI (B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In this regard, the statutes clearly demonstrate that the FSP exists to facilitate the CHP's discharge of its own responsibilities.

special employer" of "a tow truck driver operating under the Freeway Service Patrol Act." <u>Id.</u>, 163 Cal.Rptr.3d at 337.

The Opinion concedes that the FSP's legislative history is "quite short" and that it "mainly focuses on funding for the program and on allocating these funds." State ex rel. Department of California Highway

Patrol v. Superior Court, 163 Cal.Rptr.3d at 336. Prior cases had held that the "Legislature 'is deemed to be aware of statutes and judicial decisions already in existence, and to have enacted or amended a statute in light thereof," People v. McGuire (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 687, 694 [18

Cal.Rptr.2d 12, 15]. Under existing law, then, the Legislature's silence on the issue of government tort liability in the FSP should have been seen as evidencing an intent not to modify the law which had already imposed tort liability upon a public entity as a special employer.

As will be shown, the Opinion disregarded the importance of the law in existence when the FSP was enacted, disregarded well established rules of statutory construction, and concluded without authority that the use of the terms "employer" and CHP in FSP statutes translates into an expression of Legislative intent to rewrite rules of governmental tort liability. In fact, there is nothing in the FSP, the Legislative history of the FSP, or case law which even remotely suggests either (1) Legislative intent that the CHP

should not be liable as a special employer, or (2) Legislative intent that the general principles of the Tort Claims Act (California Government Code § 800 et seq.) should be inapplicable to the CHP in the FSP context. As will be shown, the terms "employer" and "employee" in certain Vehicle Code statutes are nothing more than administrative definitions used to assign tasks among participants in the FSP program.<sup>6</sup>

The Court of Appeal has announced a method of statutory construction which has no precedent, and which at the same time undermines existing precedent. The Petitioners hope that Supreme Court review will restore claims against the CHP which were, prior to the Opinion, solidly grounded in the law and fully by the facts. At the same time, it is respectfully submitted that the Opinion, if allowed to stand, may lead to flawed statutory interpretation regarding governmental tort liability, and in any number of other settings. In short, the Opinion has caused injustice to the Petitioners, and is a precedent that may create legal inconsistency and cause injustice in other cases.

///

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Section VII, <u>infra</u>.

#### II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

#### (A) The Facts as Summarized in the Opinion

The Court of Appeal considered the factual record from the summary judgment proceedings below. In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal summarized the facts as follows: "A tow truck driven by one J. Guzman on the I–5 freeway rear-ended a car driven by real party Mayra Alvarado. Guzman was employed by California Coach Orange, Inc., which had a contract with the Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA) to participate in the FSP program. OCTA in turn contracted with the CHP to provide funding for the CHP's involvement in the program in Orange County." State ex rel. Department of California Highway Patrol v. Superior Court (2013) 163 Cal.Rptr.3d 333, 334.

Based on the record provided by the parties, the Court of Appeal described the hierarchy of participants in the FSP program as follows: "Tow truck companies in this program contract with county transportation authorities to patrol urban freeways, helping out stranded motorists. The transportation authorities in turn contract with the CHP, which certifies and supervises both the drivers and the truck companies." <u>Id.</u> The Court of Appeal then acknowledged the control exercised by the CHP over FSP tow truck operations, stating in relevant part: "The CHP supervised the FSP . . .

pursuant to its statutory duty to 'make adequate provision for patrol of the highways at all times of the day and night' (Veh.Code, § 2401) and to rapidly remove all 'impediments to traffic on highways within the state.' (Id., § 2435, subd. (a).)" Id.

(B) The Record That the Petitioners Placed in the Petition for

Review, Before the Court of Appeal, and Before the Trial

Court, Regarding the Chp's Supervisory Powers over FSP

Tow Truck Drivers

Although the Opinion touched upon aspects of the record regarding the CHP's control over FSP operations (163 Cal.Rptr.3d at 334), it did not discuss the full extent of that control. As set forth in the Petition, and in the briefs before the Court of Appeal, the CHP entered into a chain of FSP related agreements all of which provided for the CHP to exercise supervisory power over the day to day performance of FSP operations by tow truck drivers.

At the top of the chain stands the "FSP Statewide Guidelines" among CHP, OCTA and CalTrans. (Before the Court of Appeal as CHP Appendix § 13, Exh. D) The Guidelines provide, inter alia, that the "CHP is generally responsible for . . . supervision of the day to day FSP field operations." In addition, the Guidelines specify that "the CHP is responsible for

dispatching FSP vehicles," and that CHP activities in the FSP "include supervising FSP field operations." According to the Guidelines, "the primary role of the CHP" is "to promote and ensure . . . safe and efficient FSP operations throughout the state."

The record also contained the written agreement between the CHP and the OCTA for OCTA to participate in the FSP. That agreement specifically provides that the CHP is responsible for "performing necessary daily project field supervision, program management and the oversight of the quality of the contractor services." It acknowledges that "authority for FSP derives from (A) section 2435(A) of the California Vehicle Code which allows FSP trucks supervised by the CHP to stop on freeways . . . "

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