In the Supreme Court of the State of California

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ex rel. Department of the California Highway Patrol,

Petitioner,

Case No. S 214221

v.

SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent,

MAYRA ANTONIO ALVARADO and DYLAN HARBORD-MOORE,
Real Parties in Interest (Petitioners Herein).

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY - 8 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ANSWERING PARTY'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From a decision of the California Court of Appeal Fourth District, Division Three, Case No. G047922

Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 30-2008-00116111
The Honorable Robert J. Moss, Judge

Patrol

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY INTERPRETED
LEGISLATIVE INTENT THAT FSP TOW TRUCK DRIVERS ARE
EMPLOYEES OF THE CONTRACTORS, NOT THE CHP

The Court of Appeal correctly held that the CHP is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiffs' claims that the CHP should be held vicariously liable as a "special employer" of a tow truck driver under the FSP program. The CHP's potential liability as an "employer" is governed by the statutory definition of "employee". Here, by its plain language, the

FSP Act makes clear that the tow truck companies contracted by local transportation agencies are the "employer" of the drivers, not the CHP.

A. The State's Potential Liability Is Governed by Statute, Not Common Law

The liability of the State for negligent acts of its employees is governed by the Government Claims Act, Government Code sections 810, et seq. Liability is strictly based on statute; there is no common law liability. (Gov. Code, § 815; *Williams v. Horvath* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 834, 838.) Under the Government Claims Act, the State may, under some circumstances, be held liable for negligent acts of an "employee," which is defined as follows:

"Employee" includes an officer, judicial officer as defined in Section 28 of the Elections Code, employee, or servant, whether or not compensated, but does not include an independent contractor.

(Gov. Code, § 810.2.) This definition is generally narrower than the common-law definition. Indeed, the Legislative Committee comment to section 810.2 states in part:

"Employee" was originally defined (in the bill as introduced) to include "an officer, agent or employee," but not an "independent contractor." By amendment, the word "servant" was substituted for "agent" because (1) "servant" was considered more appropriate than "agent" when used in a statute relating to tort liability and (2) the public entities feared that to impose liability upon public entities for the torts of "agents" would expand vicarious liability to include a large indefinite class of persons and "servant" was believed to be more restrictive than "agent."

Further, section 810.2 "does not expand" the common-law concept of employment in any respect. (*Townsend v. State of California* (1987) 191 Cal.App.3d 1530, 1533-1534 [holding that State University basketball

player who punched an opposing player was not an "employee" of the University].)

B. The FSP Act Designates the Tow Contractors as the "Employer" Without Limitation and Does Not Treat CHP as an "Employer" for Any Purpose

The FSP Act designates tow contractors as the "employer" of tow truck drivers, and makes clear that the CHP is not considered the employer for any purpose. The plain language of these statutes must be the starting point in the analysis of Plaintiffs' claims.

As this Court has explained:

Pursuant to established principles, our first task in construing a statute is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. *In determining such intent, a court must look first to the words of the statute themselves*, giving to the language its usual, ordinary import and according significance, if possible, to every word, phrase and sentence in pursuance of the legislative purpose. A construction making some words surplusage is to be avoided. The words of the statute must be construed in context, keeping in mind the statutory purpose, and statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible.

(Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1386-1387, emphasis added, citations omitted.)

Legislative intent generally is gleaned "from the plain or ordinary meaning of the statutory language, unless the language or intent is uncertain." (*Rea v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 625, 641.) In such a case both the legislative history of the statute and the wider historical circumstances of its enactment may be considered in ascertaining the legislative intent. (*Dyna-Med, Inc., supra*, at p. 1387.) However, "even if the statutory language is clear, a court is not prohibited

from considering legislative history in determining whether the literal meaning is consistent with the purpose of the statute." (Fireman's Fund Insurance Company v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 101, 109-110, citing Lungren v. Deukmejian (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.)

In enacting a statute, the Legislature is deemed to have been aware of existing statutes and judicial interpretations. (*Fireman's Fund Ins. Co, supra*, at pp. 109-110, citations omitted.) The court must "consider 'the object to be achieved and the evil to be prevented by the legislation." (*Horwich v. Superior Court* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 272, 276, [citation omitted].)¹

The rules of statutory construction require courts to construe a statute to "render it reasonable, and avoid absurd consequences." (Ford v. Gouin (1992) 3 Cal.4th 339, 348.) Where uncertainty exists in the meaning of a statute, consideration should be given to the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation. (Alford v. Pierno (1972) 27 Cal.App.3d 682, 688.)

¹ Horwich considered whether plaintiffs, whose daughter was killed while driving without insurance, were barred from recovering non-economic damages from the other driver. This Court consulted the legislative history of the applicable statute, concluding that an "injured person" barred from recovery did not include the uninsured's parents. (*Id.* at 277.) The goal of the statute was largely to punish the uninsured, and it was not met by depriving their heirs of recovery after their death. (*Id.* at 281-283.)

The starting point in this analysis is the statutory definition of "employer" of FSP tow truck drivers. Vehicle Code section 2430.1 provides in part:

As used in this article, each of the following terms has the following meaning:

- (a) "Tow truck driver" means a person who operates a tow truck, who renders towing service or emergency road service to motorists while involved in freeway service patrol operations, pursuant to an agreement with a regional or local entity, and who has or will have direct and personal contact with the individuals being transported or assisted. As used in this subdivision, "towing service" and "emergency road service" have the same meaning as defined in Section 2436.
- (b) "Employer" means any person or organization that employs those persons defined in subdivision (a), or who is an owner operator who performs the activity specified in subdivision (a), and who is involved in freeway service patrol operations pursuant to an agreement or contract with a regional or local entity.

The plain language of section 2430.1 makes clear that the CHP is not an "employer" of a tow truck driver under the FSP.

Vehicle Code section 2430.1, subdivision (b), defines "employer" as an "organization" that employs FSP drivers, and also uses the term as to "an owner operator" who performs FSP towing service. In this context, the Legislature defines "employer" using the term "organization" to describe a towing company (or membership service such as the Automobile Club) or a self-employed tow truck driver. This is evident in the last phrase in subdivision (b) "and who is involved in freeway service patrol operations pursuant to an agreement or contract with a regional or local entity." Under Streets and Highways Code section 2562.2, subdivision (c)(1), it is the

regional transportation agency such as OCTA which contracts with the "employer" organizations or owner operators.

The conclusion that the term "organization" in Vehicle Code section 2430.1 refers to towing companies or service providers, not CHP, is underscored elsewhere in the relevant statutes by references to "road service organizations" or "highway service organizations." (See Veh. Code, §§ 2430, 2435, and 2436.) Section 2430 appears to use the two terms interchangeably. (See subd. (a) and (b)(8) and (9).) Section 2436, subdivision (e), defines "highway service organization" as a "motor club" such as the Automobile Club or organization which operates or directs service vehicles providing emergency roadside assistance to motorists. None of the statutes refer to CHP in this context.

The statutory scheme as a whole further supports the conclusion that the Legislature intended to distinguish CHP from the "employers" of FSP drivers. Throughout the FSP Act, the term "employer" is repeatedly used in reference to the towing contractor, and never as to CHP, Caltrans or the regional transportation agency. CHP instead is treated as a law enforcement and supervisory partner in the program, overseeing both the field work of tow truck drivers and their "employer."

For example, Streets and Highways Code section 2562.2, subdivision (c)(1), relating to guidelines developed by Caltrans for grants to regional transportation agencies for operating a FSP program, provides that the grants are for "contracting with an employer for the provision of new or expanded freeway service patrol service and for contracting with the Department of the California Highway Patrol for provision of only direct supervisory service."

Section 2430.3, subdivision (a), distinguishes between the CHP and employers:

Every freeway service patrol tow truck driver and any California Highway Patrol rotation tow truck operator shall notify each of his or her employers and prospective employers and the Department of the California Highway Patrol of an arrest or conviction of any crime ... prior to beginning the next workshift for that employer.

(Emphasis added.)

The distinction is also made in Vehicle Code section 2430.5:

(a) Every employer intending to hire a tow truck driver on or after July 1, 1992, shall require the applicant for employment to submit a temporary tow truck driver certificate issued by the department [CHP] or a permanent tow truck driver certificate issued by the Department of Motor Vehicles. The employer shall review the certificate and obtain a copy to be maintained as required ...

Numerous other sections further demonstrate the Legislature's understanding and intent that the CHP is not considered an "employer" under the FSP. Section 2431 requires the CHP to do background checks of all tow truck drivers and "employers," and to insure that the drivers and their "employers" have valid driver's licenses and tow truck driver certificates. Section 2436.3 requires "every employer" to obtain from CHP a carrier identification number. Section 2432.1 empowers CHP to suspend an employer's highway safety carrier identification number and prohibit the employer from participating in FSP operations for up to two years. Section 2436.5 requires CHP to provide training to all employers and tow truck drivers involved in FSP operations. That training is mandatory for "every tow truck driver and employer" in FSP, and the employer is required to

keep records on the training and make it available for inspection by CHP. (Veh. Code, § 2436.7.) Former Vehicle Code section 2440 (repealed 2003) required the employers to submit to CHP an annual report detailing the numbers of road service calls handled by the towing company, the range of response times, and types and numbers of safety-related complaints received from motorists.

Additionally, Streets and Highway Code section 2562.2 states that grants are "to be awarded to a regional or local agency applicant on a competitive basis for contracting with an employer for the provision of a new or expanded freeway service patrol service and for contracting with the [CHP] for the provision of only direct supervisory services" (Sts. & Hy. Code, § 2562.2(c)(1).) Again, this section indicates the towing contractor providing the services is the employer, and the CHP is not.

Nowhere do these code sections indicate an intention for the CHP to be considered in any legal sense an "employer" of the tow truck drivers. The language of the statutes, taken as a whole, evidences legislative intent that the FSP drivers be employees of the towing contractors, and CHP not considered an "employer".

C. The Legislative History of the Freeway Service Patrol Act Indicates the Legislature Intended Drivers to be Independent Contractor Employees

The legislative history of the enacting legislation also suggests that the Legislature did not intend for or anticipate FSP drivers to be considered "special employees" of the State. (See Request for Judicial Notice (RJN) filed with this petition.)

Indeed, the legislative history indicates that the Legislature considered the definition of "employer" in the statutes to exclude the State

and thus did not to expose the CHP to potential vicarious liability. The Legislature did not consider or budget for the substantial public liability that would exist if CHP were to be vicariously liable for the negligence of tow truck drivers hired by FSP contractors. Instead, the funding for the program was fairly limited. At one point, the Legislative Analyst's Office noted that the proposal estimated total costs of \$10,200,000, with \$8,100,000 in vehicle contracts, \$1,200,000 to reimburse CHP for its costs, and \$900,000 for equipment and personnel. (RJN, p. 165.) A later committee analysis on May 26, 1992 estimated a \$8,396,000 budget. (RJN, p. 291; legislative bill analysis at p. 334.) The limited budget for CHP's supervision of the FSP program does not reflect any legislative consideration of potential liability for negligence of FSP drivers.

Caltrans' analysis of the implementing legislation, AB 3346, expressed concern that a pre-existing program using Caltrans employees to provide free emergency tow truck services on and near the San Francisco Bay Bridge could be replaced by private contractors in the FSP:

Recommend support for the bill with insistence that no existing Caltrans operations or employees be jeopardized. This is consistent with the wishes of the District and the union representing the employees. Any action resulting in discontinuing current operations using civil service employees will likely result in union generated litigation before the State Personnel Board and a demand to meet and confer over impact and/or Unfair Labor Charge before the Public Employee Relations Board.

(RJN, p. 336-337 [Dept. of Transportation Legislative Bill Analysis].)

The bill's author, Assemblyman Richard Katz, responded to these concerns (in a "letter to the journal" fax dated July 22, 1992) by expressly

stating the intent of the statute was not to replace existing services already provided by state employees:

This letter is designed to clarify the intent of subdivision (d) of Section 2561.5 of the Vehicle Code² as proposed to be added by AB 3346 (Katz) of the 1991-92 Session. The subdivision states "no program funded under this chapter shall supplant emergency response towing services provided by the department [of Transportation] as of January 1, 1992".

This subdivision was drafted to address the current provision of emergency response services by Caltrans personnel on the Bay Bridge and its approaches and adjoining freeways. I drafted the language to ensure that current *Caltrans employees* who are providing service at this site are not replaced by contract employees who are funded by the state freeway service patrol program.

(RJN, p. 383, italics and footnote added.)

Streets and Highways Code section 2561.5, subdivision (d) was added to the bill as amended on June 26, 1992. (See RJN, pp. 72-73.)

Private towing companies and organizations such as the Auto Club welcomed the FSP enacting legislation: "Tow Truck Operators groups and motor clubs such as AAA would support establishment of freeway patrols as it would provide contract employment opportunities." (RJN, p. 332 [Dept. of Transportation Legislative Bill Analysis], italics added.)

Nowhere in the legislative history is there any indication that the Legislature considered tow truck drivers assigned to the FSP to be anything other than employees of the independent contractors. The bill's author himself emphasized that the new program not supplant any pre-existing state employees performing similar services, and this intent was expressly

² Assemblyman Katz's letter erroneously refers to the Vehicle Code.

added to the bill by amendment. In this light, given the statutory nature of the FSP program, the common law doctrine of "special employment" is not applicable.

D. Plaintiffs' Arguments for Imposing Vicarious Liability on the CHP as a "Special Employer" Are Contrary to the Text, Structure, History, and Purpose of the FSP Act.

Plaintiffs contend that the CHP should be held vicariously liable as a "special employer" of FSP tow truck drivers under common law.

Plaintiffs' argument lacks merit, as it is contrary to the text, structure, history, and purpose of the FSP Act.

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